Corporate Parenting Panel
Date

Friday 25 January 2019

Time

9.30 am

Venue

Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A
Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's
agreement
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2018 (Pages 3 - 8)

4.

Declarations of Interest

5.

Weekly Looked After Children Numbers - Update from Head of
Children's Social Care (Pages 9 - 16)
Theme: Education
KLOE:
What are outcomes like for our care leavers?
How are we making sure the voice of the child is heard, and
reflected in the Pathway Plan?
How do we help care leavers to find and remain in Employment
Education and Training?
Is there anything else we need to do, to support our Looked After
Children and Care Leavers in education?

6.

Supporting Care Leavers into Education, Employment and Training
a) Report of Strategic Lead, Progression and Learning
(Pages 17 - 24)
b) Presentation (Pages 25 - 34)

7.

Durham Virtual School Education Update - Report of Head of Virtual
School (Pages 35 - 44)

8.

Advocacy Services in Aycliffe Secure Centre
a) Report of Centre Manager Aycliffe Secure Centre and Service
Manager NYAS (Pages 45 - 46)
b) NYAS - Presentation by Service Manager NYAS (Pages 47 - 58)

c) Coram Voice - Presentation by Aycliffe Secure Services Centre
Manager (Pages 59 - 64)
9.

Looked After Children - Children with Disabilities - Report of Strategic
Manager, Families First South (Pages 65 - 70)

10.

Update from Investing in Children

11.

Ofsted Updates

12.

Strategies to Stabilise Social Work Teams - Report of Strategic
Manager for Looked After and Permanence (Pages 71 - 78)

13.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting,
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

14.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information.
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)
15.

Regulation 44 visits: Summary Report - Report of Head of Children's
Social Care (Pages 79 - 108)

16.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting,
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
County Hall
Durham
17 January 2019
To:

The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel
Councillor P Brookes (Chairman)
Councillor H Smith (Vice-Chair)
Councillors B Bainbridge, H Bennett, J Carr, J Charlton, J Considine,
P Crathorne, G Darkes, J Grant, I Jewell, M McKeon, J Makepeace,
O Milburn, C Potts, A Reed, G Richardson, A Savory, E Scott,
M Simmons, C Wilson
Co-opted Members
C Baines
M Baister
N Harrison
K Myers
W Taylor
Young person representative of the Children in Care Council (CiCC)

Contact: Jill Parker

Tel: 03000 269 711

Agenda Item 3

Durham County Council
At a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Committee Room 2, County
Hall, Durham on Friday 14 December 2018 at 9.30 am
Present:
Councillor P Brookes in the Chair
Panel Members:
Councillors Bainbridge, Bennett, Carr, Charlton, Considine, Darkes, Grant, Jewell,
Makepeace, Milburn, Reed, Richardson, Savory, Scott, Simmons and Smith.
Also in attendance:
Kelsey Clayton – Legal Services Manager
Andrea Houlahan – Strategic Manager, Families First North (presenting item 6)
Selwyn Morgans - Manager, Aycliffe Secure Services Centre
Karen Robb – Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence
Ellie Seed and Amber – Investing in Children
Christine Stonehouse – Head of the Virtual School
Jac Tyler – Operations Manager, Children and Young People’s Services (presenting
item 9)
Jayne Watson - Senior Partnership Officer
1.

Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Crathorne and Wilson and from
co-opted members Chris Baines, Marie Baister, Neville Harrison, Kayleigh Myers, and,
from officer, Helen Fergusson.
2.

Substitute Members

No substitute members were in attendance.
3.

Minutes

With an amendment to include apologies from Wendy Taylor, the minutes of the
meeting held on 30 November were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the
Chair.
The following matters arising were reported by the Senior Partnership Officer:
Item 6 – The link to ‘Kayleigh’s Love Story’ has been circulated to members.
Item 9 – An update on the Pause Project requested by Councillor McKeon was to
be provided under agenda item 6.
4.

Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.
Page 3

5.

Weekly Looked After Children Numbers

Karen Robb, Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence, presented the
weekly looked after children numbers (for copy of report see file of minutes). It was
reported that the number of looked after children as at Friday 7 December was 826.
Councillor Grant referred to national statistics which indicate that the north east has a
significantly higher number of looked after children than similar socio-economic areas
of the country and she queried why this is the case. Stephen Tracey, Corporate
Equality and Strategy Manager responded that the national trend has seen an
increase in the number of looked after children, however, the figure for London has
decreased. He explained that London boroughs have worked collaboratively,
restructuring services and using alternative methods of working in an effort to reduce
the number of looked after children. Councillor Grant suggested that authorities in the
north east should investigate whether similar methods could be adopted here.
It was agreed that further analysis would be undertaken on this, and an update
presented to a future meeting.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
6.

Pre-Birth Service

Andrea Houlahan, Strategic Manager for Families First North presented the Pre-Birth
Service report which provided an overview of the Pre-Birth Service which was
implemented following the Children’s Social Care restructure in February 2018 (for
copy of report see file of minutes).
The Chair referred to the success of the pilot which has resulted in 50% of children
being returned to the care of parents and he asked whether this level of success is
sustainable. The Strategic Manager for Families First responded that the service is in
its early stages, having been implemented in May, and a measure of success will be
identified in due course. She added that the model actively encourages working with
extended families when it is not possible to return children to their parents’ care.
Councillor Makepeace asked how successful the caseload cap is and the Strategic
Manager for Families First responded that workloads are rigorously reviewed to avoid
this.
Councillor Smith referred to the Pause project and asked if the project continued to be
commissioned from an external provider. The Strategic Manager for Families First
confirmed this is the case, adding that the Pre-Birth Service works alongside Pause
practitioners to share learning and provide support, and, valuable lessons are being
learnt from this exercise. Consideration may be given to adopting this model in house,
moving forward.
Resolved
That the report be noted.

Page 4

It was agreed that the Independent Reviewing Officer report (item 9 on the agenda)
would be taken as the next item of business.
7.

Independent Reviewing Officer: Looked After Children & Child Protection
Annual Reports 2017/18

The Panel considered a report and presentation of Jac Tyler, Operations Manager,
Children and Young People’s Services which provided an overview of the Independent
Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service’s Looked After Children Annual Report for the period
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).
The Chair referred to the increasing numbers of looked after children and the impact
this has had on workloads and the Operations Manager informed the Panel that two
additional members of staff have been recruited to address this.
In response to a question about the increase in the number of disputes raised this
year and whether any themes were emerging, the Operations Manager responded
that issues are varied, however, a number are in relation to placement stability and
assessment delays. Councillor Darkes referred to the 139 disputes, amounting to
12% of the looked after population and he asked what work is being done to improve
the situation. The Operations Manager replied that the service intervenes to ensure
that assessments are dealt with on time and the service works closely with Children’s
Services regarding the quality of care plans. She added that emerging themes are
investigated to identify any potential underlying problems.
Karen Robb, Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence referred to issues
regarding delays saying that problems with the recruitment and retention of social
workers has placed teams under increased pressure, however the situation has
improved during the year following a successful marketing campaign. Councillor
Jewell commented that it would be useful to have an update on the current situation
with regard to the recruitment and retention of social workers, to ensure all members
of the Corporate Parenting Panel are sighted on this. The Strategic Manager for
Looked After and Permanence emphasised that the recruitment and retention of social
workers is a national problem, which is leading to increased competition in the field.
In response to a question as to how many children are actively involved in their
reviews, the Operations Manager replied that children are encouraged to participate in
their reviews with approximately 98% of children, over the age of 4, being involved in
their reviews with reviews being tailored to the wishes of the child. A new system is
due to be implemented from January 2019, which will provide more definitive
information around young people’s active engagement.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
8.

Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance

The Panel considered the Quarter Two performance report and presentation of
Stephen Tracey, Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager (for copy of report and
presentation see file of minutes).
Page 5

Councillor Bainbridge referred to the figures quoted in the presentation, for outcomes
for care leavers, observing that the figures showed that 93% of care leavers were in
suitable accommodation and she asked how many care leavers this referred to.
The Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager clarified that out of 85 care leavers, 79
are in suitable accommodation. The Panel commented that it would be useful for
future presentations to include figures, not only percentages.
Councillor Grant observed that the graph showing the number of looked after children
indicated the figure for Durham has doubled over the past 10 years and expressed
concern as to whether enough research is being carried out to investigate why so
many children are entering the care system.
Councillor Jewell referred to the aspirations of young people in the care system and
asked if looked after children are being encouraged to reach their full potential. The
Head of the Virtual School advised that a great deal of work is done to encourage
looked after children to be aspirational, including work with foster carers. However,
there is more work to be done to encourage Academies to admit looked after children.
The Senior Partnership Officer referred to a youth aspirations event which is being
held in the New Year which care leavers will be invited to.
In response to a request from Councillor Reed who asked for more details on the
number of children who are returned to their families, the Corporate Equality and
Strategy Manager agreed to look into this matter for a future Panel meeting.
Councillor Milburn asked how many looked after children are excluded from school.
The Head of the Virtual School reported that no looked after children have been
permanently excluded from school since 2015.
Councillor Darkes pointed out that the number of initial health assessments completed
within 20 working days has fallen by 21% and he asked the reason for this. The
Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence replied that work is being done
with the Families First teams to improve this and she added that delays can be caused
by parents failing to give their consent for health assessments to be carried out.
The Chair requested more information on the number of children who are entering the
system through Section 20 orders as opposed to Care Orders and the Corporate
Equality and Strategy Manager agreed to gather information on this. The Panel briefly
discussed what can be done to reduce the number of looked after children. The
Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence informed the Panel that work is
being done through the Supporting Solutions team, Full Circle, the Pre-Birth Team and
also Signs of Safety which is a strength based model which is in the process of being
implemented. The Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence referred to
concerns raised by the President of the Family Division about the national trends in
relation to looked after children and she added that if members wished to have further
information on this, links could be circulated by the Senior Partnership Officer.
The Chair welcomed Terry Collins, Chief Executive, who joined the meeting as an
observer.

Page 6

Resolved
That the report and presentation be noted.
9.

Aycliffe Secure Centre Film

The Manager of Aycliffe Secure Services Centre introduced a short film about the
Centre which is shown to young people on their entry to the centre. It is hoped that
the film dispels some of the myths and provides the young people with a better
understanding of what life is really like at the centre.
10.

Update from Investing in Children

The following update was provided by Investing in Children.

11.



Plans are well underway for the Christmas party which is being held on 18
December, and, as the recruitment drive for new members of the CiCC has
been so successful, there are 55 young people attending, aged between 2 and
20 years.



The Panel congratulated Amber and Jade who are now members of the
Fostering Panel and will be involved in the foster carer assessments.



The dates have now been set for CiCC meetings for 2019.



Events are being planned to celebrate Care Day in February.



Members of the CiCC have visited foster carer events.



The CiCC is working with the Young People’s Service to provide drop-in advice
sessions to be held prior to CiCC meetings, from 3 pm to 5 pm.
Ofsted Updates

None reported.
12.

Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference

The Head of Children’s Social Care presented a report which detailed the revised
Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference (for copy of report see file of minutes).
The Senior Partnership Officer informed the Panel that the revised terms of reference
makes provision to increase the number of co-opted members, to a maximum of 10.
Resolved
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

Page 7

13.

Exclusion of the public

Resolved
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they
involve the likely discussion of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1
of Schedule 12A of the Act.
14.

Regulation 44 visits Summary Report

The Panel considered the report of the Head of Children’s Social Care which provided
a summary of the Regulation 44 visit action plans and responsive repairs for
November 2018 (for copy of report see file of minutes).
Resolved
That the report be noted.

Page 8

Agenda Item 5

Corporate Parenting Panel
25 January 2019
Weekly Looked After Children Numbers

Report of Helen Fergusson, Head of Children’s Social Care,
Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Corporate
Parenting Panel with additional detail and further breakdown of the
weekly Looked After Children numbers

Executive summary
2

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel receive a breakdown of the
Looked After Children numbers to highlight fluctuations throughout the
month.

Recommendation(s)
3

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to:
(a)
Review the report and weekly Looked After Children information,
noting the lag due to papers deadlines (11 January 2019 is the
latest information available at the time of the report being written).

Background
4

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel have historically received an
update on the number of Looked After Children, that was current at the
‘point in time’ of each Corporate Parenting Panel meeting.

5

At the April 2018 Corporate Parenting Panel meeting, members agreed
to continue to receive a breakdown of the following information to
highlight fluctuations in LAC numbers throughout the month. This
information is taken from the weekly LAC updates which are produced
by the Children and Young People’s Services Systems and Data Team
and circulated to relevant Durham County Council Strategic Managers
and Officers:
(a)
(b)

Looked After Children numbers by age group and length of time
in care
Weekly Looked After Children numbers for the previous year.

Page 9

Background papers


Appendix 2

Other useful documents

Contact:

Page 10

None
Jayne Watson

Tel: 03000 268371

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
No implications
Finance
No implications
Consultation
No implications
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
No implications
Human Rights
No implications
Crime and Disorder
No implications
Staffing
No implications
Accommodation
No implications
Risk
No implications
Procurement
No implications

Page 11

Appendix 2: Weekly LAC Numbers

(a) Under
6 months

Age Group

Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

39

32

(b) 1-4yrs

47

33

56

20

(c) 5-9yrs

32

26

29

68

23

178

(d) 10-15yrs

27

21

35

81

137

301

(e) 16-17yrs

14

7

9

27

65

122

Grand Total

159

119

129

196

225

828

71
156

885

835

785

778 771 784

786 779 780 784 784

795 802 801 795 795 795 797 798 792 788

795 801 796 802

806 804 799 808 809

821 814 818 825 828 825

831

822 824 827 827 823 824 827

832 834 827 826 828 828

780

735

685

635

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

01-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

02-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

18-May

25-May-18

10-May-18

27-Apr-18

04-May-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

09-Mar-18

02-Mar-18

23-Feb-18

16-Feb-18

09-Feb-18

02-Feb-18

26-Jan-18

19-Jan-18

585

12-Jan-18

Page 12

7 December 2018
Overall the number of LAC has stayed the same at 828

14 December 2018
Overall the number of LAC has increased by 2 from last week from 828 to 830

(a) Under
6 months

Age Group

Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

41

32

(b) 1-4yrs

45

32

56

20

(c) 5-9yrs

32

27

29

67

23

178

(d) 10-15yrs

30

21

34

84

137

306

(e) 16-17yrs

14

6

10

26

64

120

Grand Total

162

118

129

197

224

830(+2)

73
153

885
835
785 771

784 786 779 780 784784

795 802 801 795795795 797 798 792 788

780

795 801 796 802

806 804 799

808 809

821 814 818 825 828 825

831

822 824 827827 823 824 827

832 834 827 826 828828 830

735
685
635

14-Dec-18

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

01-Nov-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

02-Aug-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

18-May

25-May-18

10-May-18

27-Apr-18

04-May-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

09-Mar-18

02-Mar-18

23-Feb-18

16-Feb-18

09-Feb-18

26-Jan-18

02-Feb-18

Page 13

19-Jan-18

585

Age Group

Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(a) Under
6 months

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

41

29

(b) 1-4yrs

48

32

53

22

(c) 5-9yrs

35

25

29

65

25

179

(d) 10-15yrs

31

21

33

82

136

303

(e) 16-17yrs

12

4

10

29

65

120

Grand Total

167

111

125

198

226

827(-3)

70
155

885
835
785

784 786 779 780 784784

795 802 801 795795795 797 798 792 788

780

795 801 796 802

806 804 799

808 809

821 814 818 825 828 825

831

822 824 827827 823 824 827

832 834 827 826 828828 830 827

735
685
635

20-Dec-18

14-Dec-18

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

01-Nov-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

02-Aug-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

18-May

25-May-18

10-May-18

04-May-18

27-Apr-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

09-Mar-18

02-Mar-18

23-Feb-18

16-Feb-18

09-Feb-18

02-Feb-18

585

26-Jan-18

Page 14

20 December 2018
Overall the number of LAC has decreased by 3 from last week from 830 to 827

4 January 2019
Overall the number of LAC has increased by 5 from the 20th of December from 827 to 832

(a) Under
6 months

Age Group

Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

40

25

(b) 1-4yrs

47

30

63

20

(c) 5-9yrs

34

28

29

65

21

177

(d) 10-15yrs

32

22

32

84

139

309

(e) 16-17yrs

11

4

10

30

66

121

Grand Total

164

109

134

199

226

832(+5)

65
160

885
835
785

786 779 780 784784

795 802 801 795795795 797 798 792 788

780

795 801 796 802

806 804 799

808 809

821 814 818 825 828 825

831

822 824 827827 823 824 827

832 834 827 826 828828 830 827 832

735
685
635

04-Jan-19

20-Dec-18

14-Dec-18

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

01-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

02-Aug-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

25-May-18

18-May

10-May-18

27-Apr-18

04-May-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

09-Mar-18

23-Feb-18

02-Mar-18

16-Feb-18

09-Feb-18

02-Feb-18

Page 15

585

Age Group

Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(a) Under
6 months

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

36

27

(b) 1-4yrs

48

29

66

20

(c) 5-9yrs

31

30

30

64

21

176

(d) 10-15yrs

28

23

32

83

139

305

(e) 16-17yrs

11

4

10

31

66

122

Grand Total

154

113

138

198

226

829(-3)

63
163

885
835
785

779 780 784 784

795 802 801 795 795 795 797 798 792 788

795 801 796 802

806 804 799 808 809

821 814 818 825 828 825

831

822 824 827 827 823 824 827

832 834 827 826 828 828 830 827 832 829

780

735
685
635

11-Jan-19

04-Jan-19

20-Dec-18

14-Dec-18

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

01-Nov-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

02-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

18-May

25-May-18

10-May-18

27-Apr-18

04-May-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

09-Mar-18

23-Feb-18

02-Mar-18

16-Feb-18

585

09-Feb-18

Page 16

11 January 2019
Overall the number of LAC has decreased by 3 from 832 to 829

Agenda Item 6a

Corporate Parenting Panel
25 January 2019
Supporting Care Leavers into
Education, Employment and Training

Report of Linda Bailey, Strategic Lead: Progression and Learning,
Children and Young People’s Services, Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To update members of the Corporate Parenting Panel on support
available to Care Leavers to enable them to progress into Education,
Employment and Training.

Executive summary
2

Positive progress is being made to support more Care Leavers into
Education, Employment and Training. This is as a result of support
provided through the DurhamWorks Programme working in partnership
with the Young People’s Service, the development of a Durham County
Council Pathway for Young People, as well as a number of measures to
support Care Leavers into Durham County Council Apprenticeships.

3

This report contains the latest performance data in relation to the
participation of Care Leavers in Education, Employment and Training.

4

Future action that is required to further increase the number of Care
Leavers in education, employment or training is also identified.

Recommendation
5

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are requested to:
(a)

Note the information contained in this report and the presentation
that will be given at the meeting.

(b)

Request any additional information required in relation to
Education, Employment and Training opportunities for Care
Leavers.

Page 17

Background
6

At the Corporate Parenting Panel meeting on 25 January, a
presentation will be made to highlight the positive progress that is being
made to support more Care Leavers into Education, Employment and
Training, which will include:
(a)

An update on the DurhamWorks Programme;

(b)

Examples of opportunities that are being developed within
Durham County Council, including the implementation of a
Pathway to support our Care Leavers;

(c)

Performance data in relation to Care Leavers accessing
Education, Employment or Training;

(d)

Future plans to support Care Leavers into education, employment
or training.

DurhamWorks Programme
7

As highlighted in a previous report and presentation (26 January 2018),
additional support for Care Leavers has been delivered through the
DurhamWorks Programme. This is a European funded, Durham County
Council led partnership project that supports young people aged 16-24
who are unemployed. The Local Authority has been successful in
securing additional funding to extend DurhamWorks until July 2021.

8

As a result, more Care Leavers will benefit from additional resources,
including: wrap-a-round support from a Specialist Progression Advisor;
the opportunity to undertake bespoke activities to motivate and prepare
them for sustained progression; as well as a ‘Learning, Working and
Earning’ Grant for businesses to support the employment of young
people – including Care Leavers.

9

Since its inception, 390 young people who have been supported by the
DurhamWorks Programme have identified themselves as being Looked
After or a Care Leaver. Of these, 160 young people have completed the
Programme, with 134 young people progressing into a positive
Education, Employment or Training destination – a rate of 83.8%.

Durham County Council Pathway for Young People
10

Page 18

A new pathway has been developed, to provide more opportunities for
Care Leavers within Durham County Council, including work experience
placements, Traineeships, and Apprenticeships.

11

A key concept of the pathway is to support progression. For example, a
Care Leaver could begin their journey by initially engaging in a work
experience placement in a specific occupational area of interest. This
could lead to a Traineeship and, after successfully completing this
opportunity, they could then progress into an Apprenticeship, leading to
permanent employment within Durham County Council.

12

The Pathway concept is currently being piloted within Direct Services.
Two young people are undertaking extended work experience, with
permission from Jobcentre Plus, whilst undertaking training with the
Adult Learning and Skills Service to enhance their English and maths
skills. In addition, a further two Care Leavers are due to commence
work experience as Highway Operatives in January 2019 leading to a
traineeship and, hopefully an Apprenticeship.

Intermediate Labour Market
13

Durham County Council is working in partnership with Groundwork to
provide employment opportunities for Care Leavers on a Clean and
Green Team for a period of one year. Five Care Leavers commenced
work in July 2018 and continue in employment. Financial support from
Direct Services, Progression and Learning (DurhamWorks) and
Groundwork will enable this to continue for a period of 12 months with
extensive support being provided to ensure a positive progression for
participants at the end of the programme.

Measures to support Care Leavers into Apprenticeships within
Durham County Council
14

A number of measures have been put in place to support Care Leavers
into Apprenticeship opportunities within Durham County Council. These
include guaranteeing an interview for all Care Leavers who meet the
essential criteria for the role; informing relevant services e.g. Young
People’s Service (Children and Young People’s Services), if a Care
Leaver applies for an Apprenticeship, to enable them to support and
advocate on behalf of the young person; as well as advising lead
officers, who are undertaking recruitment, of their responsibilities in
relation to giving Care Leavers due consideration at interviews.

15

The next step which is currently being explored is for a proportion of
Apprenticeship opportunities being ring-fenced for Care Leavers. Whilst
this proposal is being developed, agreement is being sought for an
Apprenticeship opportunity working within the Young People’s Service
to be ring-fenced.

Page 19

Performance Data
16

The Local Authority collects different types of performance data in
relation to the participation in Education, Employment or Training of
young people, including Care Leavers, as required by the government.

17

The Progression and Learning Service (Children and Young People’s
Services) supports the delivery of a number of statutory responsibilities
on behalf of the Local Authority to encourage, enable and assist young
people to participate in Education, Employment or Training. In order to
meet these responsibilities, the Local Authority is required to track and
report the destinations of young people to the Department of Education
on a monthly basis.
The following table shows the latest performance data for 16-17 year
olds who are resident in County Durham, compared to the same period
last year. This includes the proportion of young people participating in
RPA (Raising the Participation Age) compliant Learning; the proportion
of young people who are NEET (Not in Education, Employment or
Training); and the proportion of young people whose destination is Not
Known to the Local Authority.
November 2018
All 16-17

LAC/CL

All 16-17

LAC/CL

Total Cohort1

9,769

113

10,384

136

Participating in Learning1

90.4%

76.1%
(86)

90.2%

75.0%
(102)

NEET1

4.4%

15.9%
(18)

4.8%

16.2%
(22)

2.8%

1.8%
(2)

2.4%

6.6%
(9)

Not Known1

1Local

18

Page 20

November 2017

Authority CCIS, Department for Education, November 2018 and November 2017.

To be identified as participating in RPA compliant learning, a young
person must be engaged on one of the following routes:


Full-time study in a School, College or with a Training Provider
(minimum 540 directed learning hours);



Full-time work or volunteering (20 hours or more) combined with
part-time education or training leading to relevant regulated
qualifications;



An Apprenticeship, Traineeship or Supported Internship.

19

The Looked After and Permanence Service tracks and reports on the
destinations of Care Leavers aged 17-18 and 19-21 to the Department
for Education on a quarterly basis. This captures the destination of Care
Leavers at the time of their birthday and the definition used to identify a
Care Leaver as participating in Education, Employment or Training is
broader than that used to identify a young person participating in RPA
compliant learning.

20

The following table shows the latest performance data for 17-18 and 1921 Care Leavers, comparing 2018-19 quarter 1 (April – June) and
quarter 2 (July – September). There are currently 20 young people in
Higher Education, who receive support from the Young People’s
Service and their institution.
2018-19 Q1

2018-19 Q2

Care Leaver
17-18

Care Leaver
19-21

Care Leaver
17-18

Care Leaver
19-21

68

161

85

161

Participating in
EET1

85.3%
(58)

55.3%
(89)

85.9%
(73)

51.6%
(83)

NEET1

11.8%
(8)

36.0%
(58)

10.6%
(9)

36.0%
(58)

Total Cohort1

1Durham

County Council: Q1 April – June 2018; Q2 July September 2018.

Future Plans to Support Care Leavers
21

A number of actions have been identified within the Education,
Employment and Training Plan for Care Leavers to further increase the
proportion of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training, some
of which are referred to above:


Expand the DCC Pathway for Care Leavers into other
Directorates.



Introduce pre-Apprenticeship training and support for Care
Leavers participating on DurhamWorks to enable them to
maximise their opportunity of being successful in applying for
DCC Apprenticeships.



Explore the potential to ring-fence a proportion of DCC
Apprenticeship opportunities for Care Leavers.



Review the Education, Employment and Training aspect of the
Local Offer in other Local Authority areas, in order to identify any
opportunities for additional support.

Page 21



Work more closely with the North East Raising Aspirations
Partnership in order to encourage more Care Leavers to take up
opportunities to learn about Higher Education.



Investigate the feasibility of introducing the Stepladder of
Achievement Programme in County Durham. The aim of the
Programme is to provide both the life skills and financial
resources in order to enable Care Leavers to achieve their full
potential as adults, including enhancing their employment
prospects.

Conclusion
22

This report has highlighted the progress that has been made during the
previous twelve months to support Care Leavers into Education,
Employment or Training. For example, a significant number of young
people are benefitting from DurhamWorks support and more are
beginning to access opportunities within Durham County Council as a
result of a new Pathway for Young People. However, it is recognised
that more work is required to further increase the proportion of Care
Leavers in Education, Employment or Training and, to this end, a
number of priorities have been identified.

Recommendation
23

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are requested to:
(a)

Note the information contained in this report and the presentation
that will be given at the meeting.

(b)

Request any additional information required in relation to
Education, Employment and Training opportunities for Care
Leavers.

Background papers


None

Other useful documents

Contact:

Page 22

None
Linda Bailey

Tel: 01325 375940

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
None.

Finance
None.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement
None.

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Supporting Care Leavers into
Education, Employment and
Training
Corporate Parenting Panel
Linda Bailey, Strategic Lead
Progression and Learning
Agenda Item 6b

Page 25

Page 26

DurhamWorks Update

• EU funded, DCC led partnership project that supports
young people aged 16-24 who are unemployed.

• Programme extended until July 2021 – aim is to support
over 10,000 young people and overall project value is
£29.04m.
• Care Leavers will continue to benefit from:
 Wrap-a-round support from Special Progression Advisors
 Bespoke activities to motivate and prepare for EET
 Employer based opportunities

• 390 Looked After / Care Leavers have been supported to
date. Of these, 160 have completed, with 134 progressing
into EET – a rate of 83.8%.

Durham County Council Pathway for
Young People

Apprenticeship
Traineeship
Work Experience

Teenagers 2
Work

Permanent
Employment

Page 27

Page 28

Durham County Council Pathway for
Young People

• Direct Services - work experience for 4 young people,
including 2 undertaking extended work experience agreed
with Jobcentre Plus.
• Clean and Green Team - 5 young people undertaking
employment through intermediate labour market model.
• Measures to support Care Leavers into Apprenticeships
include guaranteed interview, informing relevant services
when a Care Leaver applies for an opportunity, advising
lead officers of responsibilities, etc.

Performance Data
Nov 2018

Nov 2017

All 16-17 LAC/CL All 16-17 LAC/CL
Total Cohort

9,769

113

10,384

136

Participating in
Learning

90.4%

76.1%
(86)

90.2%

75.0%
(102)

NEET

4.4%

15.9%
(18)

4.8%

16.2%
(22)

Not Known

2.8%

1.8%
(2)

2.4%

6.6%
(9)

Page 29

Local Authority CCIS, Department for Education, November 2018 and November 2017.

5

Page 30

Case Studies
M
• M has been supported by DurhamWorks since the
beginning of the programme – ensuring continuity.
• M completed a Traineeship for Care Leavers with
County Durham Adult Learning and Skills Service,
which included a work experience placement.
• Is undertaking an extended work experience placement
with Refuse and Recycling (Direct Services,
Regeneration and Local Services).
• Is undertaking training (including English and maths)
with County Durham Adult Learning and Skills Service.

6

Case Studies

Page 31

A
• A has had previous episodes of employment but nothing
sustainable. Has also had periods of homelessness.
• A is being supported by DurhamWorks and thier housing
situation is now stable.
• Was working through an agency but the employment
ended before Christmas.
• A is commencing work experience followed by a
Traineeship opportunity with Highways Services
(Regeneration and Local Services).
• A is keen to start and would like to progress to an
Apprenticeship in the future.

7

Page 32

Future Plans
• Expand the DCC Pathway for Care Leavers.

• Introduce pre-Apprenticeship training and support for Care
Leavers participating on DurhamWorks to enable them to
maximise their opportunity at being successful in applying
for DCC Apprenticeships.
• Explore the potential to ring-fence a proportion of DCC
Apprenticeship opportunities for Care Leavers.
• Review the Education, Employment and Training aspect of
the Local Offer in other Local Authority areas, in order to
identify any opportunities for additional support.

8

Future Plans
• Work more closely with the North East Raising
Aspirations Partnership in order to encourage more Care
Leavers to take up opportunities to learn about Higher
Education.
• Investigate the feasibility of introducing the Stepladder of
Achievement Programme in County Durham.

Page 33

9

Page 34

Corporate Parenting Panel

• Continue to monitor progress to support Care Leavers into
sustained Education, Employment and Training
opportunities.
• Promote DurhamWorks Programme to Care Leavers and
other young people.

10

Agenda Item 7

Corporate Parenting Panel
25 January 2019
Durham Virtual School Education
Update

Report of Christine Stonehouse, Virtual School Head, Durham
County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To update members of the Corporate Parenting Panel on key priorities
and developments to improve educational outcomes for looked after
children, based on the outcomes for 2018.

2

To summarise the quality of personal education plans (PEPs) and the
impact of pupil premium plus funding (PP+).

Executive summary
3

Emerging national data indicated that outcomes for 2017-2018 were
above the national average for the cohort at:
a.
b.
c.
d.

all measures in Early Years;
all measures at Key Stage 2 (KS2) except reading;
progress measures Key Stage 1-2;
all measures Key Stage 4(KS4).

4

Outcomes were below the national average for Key Stage 1 (KS1).

5

Girls achieved significantly better than boys across the board.

6

Attendance remains strong, our fixed term exclusion is lower than the
national average (based on the statistical first release 2018 for 201617). We are awaiting updated data for the academic year 2017-18.

7

The Personal Education Plan’s (PEPs) are the main driver for
educational improvement. They provide the information and impetus for
intervention. Recent quality assurance of the PEPs completed in the
autumn term 2018 indicate a rise in quality from 2017, but this remains
an area to improve.

8

Pupil premium plus (PP+) funding is mostly used effectively by schools
to improve the educational outcomes of children and young people
Page 35

through dedicated academic tuition or support for emotional and social
wellbeing to develop self-regulation and readiness to learn.
9

Where funding is less effective or the spending is deemed to be
ineligible, we challenge schools and, if necessary, withhold payment.

10

Durham virtual school uses retained funding to provide a broad range of
support for schools and individuals, ranging from professional
development for school staff to places for children at the inclusion base
during times of pressure or crisis.

11

Our priorities for educational outcomes continue to be:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.

12

Reading at KS1/2;
Maths across the board;
The gender gap;
Higher grades for the more able;
Attendance better than the national average;
Fixed term exclusion lower than the national average;
Strong outcomes in Early Years and in Post 16.

Our broader priorities include:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

Stability of school placement and swift admission to schools
Training for schools to be more attachment and trauma aware;
Training to improve the quality of the PEP;
Support for schools to use the PP+ funding effectively;
Listening and responding to the voice of the young people;
Celebrating their achievements.

Recommendation(s)
13

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to
a.
b.

read and note the contents of this report.
Provide any thoughts and comments.

Background
14

Durham Virtual School is proud of the 2018 achievements of our
children and young people, but we know there is more we can do.

15

The detailed data for the 2018 outcomes was presented at the
committee meeting in November and we do not have any updates on
the validated data. This will not be available until March 2019. The
current data can also be found in my annual report Durham Virtual
School Annual Report 2018

Page 36

16

In December 2018 we monitored the progress of all looked after
children and young people in years 2,6 and 11. This data is currently
undergoing a forensic analysis to identify strengths, weaknesses,
needs, trends, cohort groups and targeted intervention.

17

We are also in the process of quality assuring the PEPs for statutory
school years from the autumn term 2018. We are developing a system
for early years and post 16, but this is not yet fully implemented.

18

In September, we introduced a new system for the allocation of PP+ so
that schools would know how much they were getting and could plan
accordingly. We developed a resource plan for them to complete.
Following quality assurance of this, we know we have some teething
troubles to resolve.

Monitoring education progress, attainment and attendance
19

Every Durham looked after child has an allocated SEND, Looked After
Children and Vulnerable Groups Caseworker. The role of the
caseworker is to closely monitor the education of each child and work
with their school to ensure all necessary support is put in place to
enable their ongoing achievement.

20

We scrutinise pupil progress as follows:
Yr Grp

Monitoring

Yr1

July

Yr2

December

Yr3

October

Yr4

February

Yr5

December

February

Yr6

December

February

Yr7

October

Yr8

February
May

July

May
February

Yr9

July

Yr10

December

February

July

Yr11

December

February

July (Post-16 Transition Plans)

Page 37

21

For primary aged children at both KS1 and KS2 we assess:
 Progress against predicted outcomes – Fisher Family Trust;
 Probability of meeting the “expected standard”.

22

For secondary aged children at KS4 we assess:
 Predicted outcomes in Maths and English;
 Breadth of curriculum/outcomes across eight GCSEs through
Attainment 8 scores;
 Progress across the curriculum through progress 8 scores;
 Percentage entering or achieving the English Baccalaureate.

23

For children identified as being at risk of not making progress, the
caseworker ensures that additional support is put in place.

24

The outcomes of the December monitoring for Yr2, Yr5, Yr6, Yr10 and
Yr11 are presently being analysed.

Updated attendance and fixed term exclusion trends
25

Durham looked after children attend school regularly and when national
statistics are published the overall absence percentage should continue
to be better than the national average. Table one below shows the three
year trend for autumn / spring terms only. It is worth noting that this rate
of absence has more than halved from 5.20 in 2011 to 2.29 in 2018.

Table 1:

Three year trend of overall absence for Durham LAC

% absence from school of children who have been
looked after

840

Durham-LAC Overall Absence

2016

2017

2018

2.70

3.19

2.29

26

Caseworkers respond quickly when they become aware of an
attendance concern. Schools are quick to let us know if they begin to
see a dip and carers work hard to ensure the children in their care have
good attendance.

27

We are planning to look at children in different settings and schools.
Attendance is lowest in our secondary SEMH schools. We need to
explore the impact of home placement on attendance. There seems to
be some anecdotal evidence that those children and young people in
residential homes and those in care at home have lower attendance.
We will report back on this when we have explored further.

Page 38

28

To ensure we are able to maintain good attendance and also to explore
any hidden absence beneath the overall figures, we have reinstated
regular meeting with the Pupil Placement and Attendance Officer, to
monitor this.

29

The number of days lost to foxed term exclusion continues to fall from
265 in 2016-17 to 151 in 2017-18.

30

In the autumn term 2018, 15 Durham looked after children had fixed
term exclusion, totalling 51 days. This is a reduction from the autumn
term 2017 when 18 looked after children were excluded for a total of 68
days.

31

Of the Durham looked after children excluded in the autumn term 2018:
 4 had exclusions periods of 3 days or more
 7 had more than 1 period of fixed term exclusion
 2 had 10 days exclusion in total
The main reasons for exclusion are persistent disruptive behaviour,
verbal threats and physical assault.

Current PEP Quality Assurance (QA)
32

As of December 2018, almost 400 PEPs had gone through the initial
caseworker quality assurance and 77.72% were judged to be of high
quality or better. This is an improvement of over 6% from 2017.

33

Those schools with PEPs judged to be below quality are challenged in
the first instance by caseworkers. We will follow this up with a further
conversation and support if there is no improvement.

34

There was high representation of young person involvement (97.2%) in
this completed batch. 94.68% of parents / carers contributed, as did
86.84% of social workers.

35

Once all of the QA is complete, we will identify any schools with
consistently poor quality PEPs to provide challenge, advice and
support.

36

We will also identify social work teams where involvement / contribution
was below expectations and work with managers to identify any barriers
and challenge poor practice.

37

In order to improve the quality of the content of the PEP, we have
provided some standardisation time for caseworkers to do a blind
quality assurance exercise with members of their teams. A set of
questions have been provided to support this.

Page 39

38

The PEP should be the key driver in telling the ‘educational story’ of the
young person. We should be able to hear the child’s voice coming
through and be able to recognise the learning needs and barriers to
success and agree actions to overcome them.
We have identified team leaders within the SEND, Looked After
Children and Vulnerable Groups Casework Team to take the lead on
early years and post 16 PEPS and we are liaising with the Young
People’s Service on this.

Pupil Premium Plus Funding (PP+)
39

We retain £600 per child / young person to provide central support,
services and input. Some examples of this support are set out below.

40

Between April and December 2018 we have supported 32 looked after
children in the Virtual School Inclusion base as follows:
Yr 11

Yr 10

Yr 9

Yr 8

Yr 7

Yr 6

Yr 5

6

5

6

9

4

1

1

The children/young people attend the provision for up to 6 weeks and
receive support from a teacher and 2 Inclusion Support Workers.
41

Children/Young People access the inclusion support when they have
been fixed term excluded, where they are at risk of being in a cycle of
fixed term exclusion or where they will benefit from a programme of
personal and social skills development to support their engagement in
learning.

42

The support offered is as follows:
 up to five half days support for a child/young person who has been
fixed term excluded by their school
 access to a structured programme, 2 days per week for 6 weeks, to
support personal and social development.
All children and young people who access the inclusion support
receive additional English and maths support as part of their
curriculum. We offer additional subject support based on the
curriculum needs of each child/young person.

43

Page 40

Our Educational Psychologist (EP) for looked after children has had
involvement with 40 young people between April 1st 2018 and the end of
the autumn term 2018 (two terms). Consultation has also been
provided to the Virtual School and now SEND Caseworkers regarding
individual children not formally referred. Most cases have been Durham
looked after children educated in Durham but work was also completed
for non-Durham young people in care attending Durham schools and

Durham children educated outside of the authority. Work has been
across all key stages and in nursery and across mainstream and
specialist provision.
EP involvement has included consultation, assessment, joint planning,
review to inform statutory annual review and care team planning,
coaching, training, referral on as required - on a case by case basis.
Typically, the EP input would involve information gathering from other
agencies (social care health and education) and carers, observation,
direct assessment and work aimed at informing planning and support
for the young person at school, and written reports. There has been an
emphasis on capacity building through consultation/coaching for those
who are supporting children with challenging behaviours - teachers and
support staff. Direct work is not always needed or helpful.
44

Impact is not formally measured but would typically include:
 special educational needs more fully assessed to inform planning
and support (PEP, care team, SEN Support Plan, EHCP)
 teaching staff understanding difficult behaviour in the context of the
child’s trauma and attachment difficulties and responding to it
differently
 reduced stress in and increased resilience of teachers and support
staff
 children who might otherwise be excluded or moved into more
specialist provision remaining included in their mainstream school
 learning difficulties identified (where ‘behaviour’ is to the fore) to
enable the child’s needs to be better understood and met
 facilitating access to other services where there is a gap identified
 continuity of service where repeated changes of carer and school
can lead to children missing out on services/’falling through the
gaps’.

45

The Virtual School funds a 0.5FTE school counsellor post to ensure
looked after children have access to emotional support when required.
Up to 12 looked after children can access the support on an individual
basis. The school counsellor/s work directly with the child for around 8
weeks depending on need.

46

From April 2018 to December 2018 10 looked after children accessed
the support as follows:
Yr 10

Yr 9

Yr 8

Yr 7

Yr 6

Yr 5

Yr 2

1

1

2

1

1

2

1

Page 41

47

We also provide additional support to looked after children and their
schools where individualised learning pathways/curriculums are
required to ensure their engagement in learning and reduce the risk of
permanent exclusion. Examples of where this approach has been used
include:
 A young person who was unable to attend secondary school for
safeguarding reasons. We made additional PP+ available to the
school to allow continued access to an alternative provision which
was having a positive impact on the young person and their
education.
 A young person at risk of permanent exclusion. PP+ was used to
fund access to a specialist provider to enable integration into a new
mainstream school.

48

The Department for Education has updated their guidance on the use of
PP+. As a consequence of this, we have introduced an annual
resource planning sheet that schools complete. Through quality
assurance of the resource plans, we have identified aspects of the form
to change for next year where this was not clear. We have also
developed a guide for schools outlining some examples of effective use
of PP+ and also highlighting ineligible spend.

Main implications
49

There are no key implications from this report

Conclusion
50

We want to ensure, that wherever possible, our looked after children
and young people achieve to their potential. We know that it isn’t good
enough just to do as well as or better than the national and regional
averages for children in care; we want our looked after children to close
the gap on all Durham children. We have highlighted the reading deficit,
maths gaps and gender gap with schools and we will continue to
support them through additional funding, academic intervention and
therapeutic strategies. Our priorities are outlined in our operational plan
which will be shared with the Virtual School sub-group for scrutiny and
challenge.

Contact:

Page 42

Christine Stonehouse

Tel: 03000 265802

Clive Horton

Tel: 03000 267749

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
N/A

Finance
Review of both de-delegated funding and pupil premium plus to ensure
transparency for schools so that both are used for maximum impact.

Consultation
N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
N/A

Human Rights
N/A

Crime and Disorder
N/A

Staffing
The SEND,LAC,VG team will be closer to capacity from February which
should ensure that looked after children can be a higher priority.

Accommodation
N/A

Risk
N/A

Procurement
N/A

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8a

Corporate Parenting Panel
25 January 2019
Advocacy Services in Aycliffe Secure
Centre

Report of Selwyn Morgans, Centre Manager, Aycliffe Secure Centre
and Steve Percival, Service Manager, NYAS
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To notify members of the Corporate Parenting Panel that Selwyn
Morgans and Steve Percival will provide presentations at the meeting,
providing an update on the advocacy services and support available at
Aycliffe Secure Centre.

Executive summary
2

The update will enable members of the Corporate Parenting Panel to be
assured that a range of suitable advocacy is available to young people
who are accommodated in Aycliffe Secure Centre.

Recommendation(s)
3

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are requested to:
(a)
receive the presentations
(b)
note information contained within the report and presentations
(c)
provide comment on the presentations accordingly

Background
4

Aycliffe Secure Centre offers accommodation, education, care and
therapeutic services to very vulnerable young people who have often
suffered abuse, including neglect and trauma, some of whom have
committed offences themselves.

Background papers
 None
Contact:

Selwyn Morgans

Tel: 03000 262 287

Page 45

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
N/A

Finance
N/A

Consultation
N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
N/A

Human Rights
N/A

Crime and Disorder
N/A

Staffing
N/A

Accommodation
N/A

Risk
N/A

Procurement
N/A

Page 46

Independent Advocacy for Children
and Young People in County Durham, and
Aycliffe Secure Centre
Agenda Item 8b

Page 47

Page 48

NYAS offers a variety of services including:

• A national advocacy helpline.
• Advocacy for children in care and those in need – including
children subject to child protection plans, care leavers,
children and young people with disabilities.
• The provision of independent visitors for children in care.
• Legal representation of children in private family law.
• Advocacy to adults in-inpatient mental health settings.
• Regulation 44 services to children’s homes.
• Legal representation for children in private family law.

What is advocacy?
• enabling the young person to self-advocate wherever
possible.
• empowering children and young people
• ensuring their rights are respected and their views and
wishes are heard.
• representing the views, wishes and needs of children
and young people to decision-makers, helping them to
navigate their own care planning.
Page 49

Page 50

•
•
•
•
•
•

Advocacy services provide independent
and confidential:
Information
Signposting
Advocacy
Representation
Support
Legal services

Core Principles
Advocacy services should be:
 Independent
 Child-led

 Confidential
 Accessible
Page 51

Page 52

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Who receives support from an advocate?
All Looked After children and young people
Children and young people in foster care or residential children’s homes
Children and young people at home subject to care orders
Children and young people in ‘out of county’ placements
Children and young people who access short break care
Care Leavers eligible under the Leaving Care Act
Children and young people who wish to make a complaint, whether or not
they are a Looked After Child
All Children in Need
Children who wish for support with transitions, or to appeal their Education,
Health and Social Care Plan at Tribunal
Children and young people subject to Initial or Review Child Protection
Conferences

Advocacy and ‘Best Interests’

Page 53

• The advocate acts only upon the young person’s express
permission and instructions, even when these may not
meet the advocate’s view of the child or young person’s
best interests.
• Where there is conflict between the child or young
person’s wishes and those of others, advocates give
precedence to those of the child.
• Advocates provide children and young people with all
relevant information and support them in interpreting
and understanding that information so that they can
make well-informed decisions.

Page 54

A statutory right…

The Children Act 2004 required “a culture of listening
to children and taking account of their wishes and
feelings, both in individual decisions and the
development of services”.
This was revisited in Working Together 2018.

Child Protection Conferences
ICPC and RCPC referrals during 2018
30
25
20
15
ICPC

10
5
0

RCPC

Page 55

Page 56

Advocacy referrals received in 2018

Case load from 2012

Page 57

Page 58

Referring young people for advocacy

Contact Steve Percival to discuss a referral: 07899 790 689
Call:
0808 808 1001
Email:
help@nyas.net
Referrals:
https://www.nyas.net/referral-form/

Advocacy Services
Aycliffe Secure Centre

Agenda Item 8c

Page 59

Page 60

Coram Voice (overview)
•

Coram are a recent addition to advocacy services in Secure

•

Their role is to advocate on behalf of Young People who may require or be receiving
mental/emotional services from the agencies working in to the centre

•

Coram is funded through NHS England and is a requirement of the new Secure STAIRS
programme. This programme is a national programme which focuses on the holistic
needs of Young People and Carer’s

•

Coram Voice will be visiting Aycliffe weekly and all young people referred into the Kolvin
service will be seen by an advocate

•

Coram ensure a Young Persons wishes and feelings are fed in to the MATAC (Multi
Agency Team Around the Child) meetings

Coram Voice Advocates will be managing the following issues:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Any issues related to the Kolvin Service
Community support in relation to a young person’s mental health needs
Support in escalating complaints around community CAMHS/Inpatient services
Complaint’s in relation to the Kolvin service
Any issue’s that may affect the young person’s mental health i.e. transitional
support
Supporting young people to ascertain and receive similar support provided by the
Kolvin service in the community
Onward referrals to community advocacy providers
Supporting young people who are due to be detained under the Mental Health Act
or transferred to hospital for assessment in understanding their rights

Page 61

Page 62

National Youth Advocacy Service (NYAS) (overview)
•

NYAS has held a long standing business relationship with Children’s Services providing
an advocacy service for Residential Children’s Homes, Looked After Young People,
Young People who are subject to a Protection Plan as well as Secure Services

•

Their role is to represent the wishes and feelings of our Young People and ensure their
voice is heard

•

NYAS advocates will be visiting weekly and young people who are referred into NYAS
by staff will be seen by an advocate

•

NYAS Advocates also attend planned meetings with Young People as required when
requested by the Young Person

•

NYAS are very supportive in helping Young People move to the right placement and are
strong advocates for access to family and friends

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

National Youth Advocacy Service (NYAS) Advocates will be managing the
following issues:
All Looked After children and young people
Children and young people in foster or residential homes
Children and young people at home subject to care orders
Children and young people in out of county placements
Children and young people in short break care
Care Leavers eligible under the Leaving Care Act
Children and young people who wish to make a complaint, whether or not they are a
Looked After Child
All Children in Need
Children who wish for support with the transition process, or to appeal their Education,
Health and Social Care Plan or SEND planning at Tribunal
Children and young people subject to Initial or Review Child Protection Conferences

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Corporate Parenting Panel
25 January 2019
Looked After Children – Children with
Disabilities

Report of Elizabeth Stenton, Strategic Manager, Families First
South, Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To inform members of the Corporate Parenting Panel of the remit and
number of children currently open to the Children with Disabilities
Service.

Executive summary
2

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel will receive a breakdown of
the number of Looked After Children with a disability, for information.

Recommendation(s)
3

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to:
(a)

Note the contents of this report.

Background
4

There are 153 open cases to the Children’s Disabilities Team 0-13
years, 11 of which are Looked After Children (LAC), 8 children are
subject to a Section 31 order of the Children Act 1989, 2 children are
subject to a Section 20 order of the Children Act 1989 and 1 child is
subject to an interim care order.

5

Current Caseload:
(a)
Social Work Consultant
(b)
Social Worker (newly qualified)
(c)
Social Worker (newly qualified)
(d)
Part Time Social Worker
(e)
Level 3 Social Worker
(f)
Level 3 Social Worker
(g)
Level 3 Social Worker
(h)
(due to start maternity leave)
(i)
Family Worker
(j)
Family Worker

10
20
21
12
26
24
6
20
14

Page 65

Breakdown of Disabilities
6

A summary is provided below of the young people’s disabilities;
MM – This child has a severe brain injury and right sided weakness and
learning disabilities.
SB – This chid has a diagnosis of a severe learning disability. They
demonstrate challenging behaviours in terms of hitting biting nipping
and swearing. To support their health needs, the child has a
gastrostomy PEG which is used to administer medication and
supplementary feeds. The child also has a diagnosis of Autism
Spectrum Disorder and Epilepsy.
JF – This child has a cochlear implant. They can demonstrate head
banging type behaviours, severe learning disabilities, and are nonverbal.
BC – This child has autism, global development delay, learning
disability.
KD – This child has epilepsy, severe learning disability, and global
development delay and is doubly incontinent.
KL – This child has a diagnosis of Downs Syndrome, and has some
other health needs as a result of this such as an overactive thyroid.
AK – This child has a diagnosis of Downs Syndrome, and has
associated learning difficulties that impact upon their cognition and
communication.
MW – This child has Cerebral Palsy - 4 limbed quadriplegia, Severe
Global Development Delay, Epilepsy, Asthma, Scoliosis, visual
impairment, Faltering growth, Microcephaly, Gastrostomy and tissue
viability problems.
GS – This child is very complex with a range of health issues which
include epilepsy, profound cognitive impairment, visual impairment,
spasticity and dystonia, gastrostomy fed, gastric dysmotility and
scoliosis.
HC – This child has a diagnosis of ADHD, Severe Developmental
Delay, hypotonia and visual impairment.
AT – This child has a complex range of medical problems including
ADHD and autism. They have incredibly rigid thinking and suffer from
severe anxiety.

Page 66

7

Likely outcomes for LAC children with disability:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Remain at home with short breaks respite in place;
Temporary or permanent foster placements;
52 week residential placements;
Independent Fostering Arrangements Placements;
Special Guardianship Order or Care Order with family members;
Placement orders for plan of adoption.

Statistical Comparisons to neighbouring Local Authorities
8

Newcastle Local Authority have 30 children.

9

Sunderland Local Authority have 20 children.

Social work practice
10

Day to day social work practice:
(a)

(b)
(c)

(d)

(e)
(f)

All of our LAC children have regular LAC meetings with annual
health and dental checks and regular multi-agency care team
meetings;
Our children express their views through observations, one to one
work and play;
Our children have access to services – we ensure they have
short break respite, continuity of support. Community support
services are available to them;
Our LAC children are monitored through lac procedures, statutory
visits take place and children are regularly seen by school and
health professionals;
All aspects of safeguarding are completed by the social workers
on the team;
Our children have a pathway plan to ensure a smooth transition
to adulthood, this is done with the 14-25 years transitions team
and by looking at what the needs of the children are.

Partners we work with
11

There is close joint working between Families First Disabled Children
and Families Team and the Local Authority and Health Commissioners.

12

We work together to identify the needs of families; determine demand
and gaps in provision and consider what provision can best meet needs
and achieve the best outcomes for children and young people.

13

We have set up a framework of 15 providers to enable choice and
flexibility for parent/ carers to receive a short break from caring whilst
their child/young person takes part in something meaningful that
achieves positive outcomes.

Page 67

14

We have worked together to identify gaps in relation to families
accessing Early Help services and expanded our short breaks offer
together to enable this need to be met.

15

We have worked across the region to develop a framework of providers
who can provide over-night short break care for children and young
people within residential settings to enable over-night short breaks for
parent/ carers.

16

We have worked jointly with Adult Commissioners to re-commission an
all age Domiciliary Care Support Framework.

17

Where there has not been the appropriate solutions in place; we have
worked together to develop bespoke off-framework arrangements.

18

One examples of this; we worked together to consider the needs of 2
very complex children. Through a joint partnership approach working
between Families First Disability, Local Authority Commissions, Health
Commissioners, the Provider Market and Housing we developed a
bespoke arrangement which meant that 2 children could remain in their
family home.

Contact:

Page 68

Elizabeth Stenton

Tel: 03000 265847

Appendix 1: Implications –
Legal Implications
There are legal duties on the Local Authority to implement the disability and
special educational needs reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act
2014.
As Corporate Parents, there is a legal duty to care for our Looked After
Children under the Children Act 1989. Also, The Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards (DoLS) are part of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. The safeguards
aim to make sure that people in care homes and hospitals are looked after in
a way that does not inappropriately restrict their freedom.
Finance
In relation to Looked After Children, the Local Authority has a clear duty to
provide sufficient placements for those with more complex needs.
At the time where a young person has complex and additional needs, the
service, in conjunction with health partners, may have to commission more
specialist provision but this need is low.
Consultation
N/A
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The Local Authority under Equalities Legislation and the Children’s Act have a
duty to provide access to services for Children and Young People with SEND.
The needs of all young people are considered on an individual basis
Human Rights
Children and young people with disabilities have the same right to a family life
(HRA S8) as any other young person whom CYPS deliver services and
support.
Crime and Disorder
N/A.
Staffing
CWD service is suitably staffed, to ensure that the service offers appropriate
staffing levels based on current need.

Page 69

Accommodation
A range of respite and short breaks accommodation is available.
Foster carer’s accommodation is adapted to meet the needs of the young
people and we commission bespoke packages of living arrangements to meet
the identified needs of the child
Risk
It is fair to say that children with disabilities can present a challenge in
adoptive placement. However, with our Placement /Fostering /Adoption
colleagues we work to seek the best placement to meet the agreed/assessed
outcomes for the child
Procurement
We work with Commissioning Services and follow the agreed procurement
procedure if specific service is required.

Page 70

Agenda Item 12

Corporate Parenting Panel
25 January 2019
Strategies to Stabilise Social Work
Teams

Report of Karen Robb, Strategic Manager, Looked After and
Permanence, Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
None

Purpose of the Report
1

This report provides a summary of the strategies which have been put
in place with the aim of stabilising social work teams.

Executive summary
2

The recruitment and retention of Social Workers has been a key priority
following the 2016 Single Inspection Framework (SIF) inspection.
Strategies have included:
(a)

Introducing a Social Work Academy to support Newly Qualified
Social Workers in their first year of practice.

(b)

Enhancing pay for experienced Social Workers in “hard to fill
posts” and reducing incentives to take up or remain in agency
posts.

(c)

Active recruitment, both within and outside the North East.

(d)

Working to create the conditions for effective social work
practice. This includes introducing LiquidLogic as a case
recording system and Signs of Safety as our model of practice.

(e)

Increasing capacity, both in frontline social work teams, and in
posts which provide valuable support to those teams such as
supervised contact.

(f)

Actively listening to Social workers across the Service and taking
appropriate action.

(g)

Ensuring career development opportunities are available for
Social Workers at all levels, to both support retention and
develop the next generation of managers.

Page 71

3

4

It is too soon to evaluate the impact of recent investment to increase
capacity, however there have been some positive effects from
strategies in place for longer:
a)

The vast majority of Social Workers eligible for additional
allowances have remained in post since the introduction of the
allowances.

b)

Team Manager and Social Work Consultant posts are much
easier to fill than they were in 2016. In addition the age profile
has changed so that 66% of Team Managers and 89% of Social
Work Consultants are now aged under 55.

Despite these strategies there are continued challenges:
a)

Turnover of less experienced Social Workers (not eligible for
additional allowances) in Families First teams remains high.

b)

Recruitment of experienced Social Workers into Families First
remains low. Since June 2018 only 2 external candidates have
taken up post in Families First teams.

Recommendation(s)
5

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to:
(a)
(b)

Note the contents of this report.
Request an update on the impact of recent investment to
increase capacity in 6 months.

Background
6

Under the governance of the Raising the Bar group, a significant
amount of activity has been undertaken to systematically address
issues of social work recruitment and retention, particularly in Families
First teams.

Social Work Academy
7

The Social Work Academy was created in 2016 to allow the service to
support a much greater number of Newly Qualified Social Workers
(NQSWs) through their first year in practice.

8

The Academy has now supported 48 NQSWs through to successful
completion of the Assessed and Supported Year in Employment
(ASYE), and is working with 24 NQSWs. It is anticipated that 21
NQSWs will start work with the support of the Academy in early 2019.

9

With the support of recent investment 12 new Enhanced Practitioner
posts are being created to provide additional mentoring and support to

Page 72

NQSWs in their teams. To date 4 successful candidates are undergoing
pre-employment checks, further interviews are scheduled
10

The Service has retained 77% of the Newly Qualified Social Workers
the Academy has supported since 2016. Where Social Workers have
chosen to go elsewhere at the end of the ASYE they have been
attracted by higher salaries or different types of work.

11

Since November 2017 Newly Qualified Social Workers have received
an increment to their salaries on completion of the ASYE.

Pay
12

Social work pay and conditions are compared regularly across the
region. As a result in June 2018 a £2,500 temporary recruitment and
retention allowance was introduced for “hard to fill” posts (currently
Team Managers, Social Work Consultants, Enhanced Practitioners and
Senior Social Workers in Families First).

13

The allowance appears to have had a positive impact on retention.
Since June 2018 only 2 individuals have left post after receiving the
allowance. Both went to posts elsewhere in the Service in line with their
career aspirations and have repaid the allowance.

14

The allowance has had an impact on recruitment to eligible posts. Since
June 2018 only 2 Senior Social Workers and 1 Team Manager eligible
for the allowance have commenced in post. 3 Enhanced Practitioners
and 2 Team Managers eligible for the allowance are undergoing preemployment checks.

15

There are indications that the allowance has been a demotivating factor
for some Social Workers in posts which are not eligible.

16

In July 2018 agency rates across the region (with the exception of
Together for Children in Sunderland) were capped to reduce costs and
make agency working less attractive. There are indications that
permanently employed social workers are less likely to move to agency
employment, and a small number of agency workers have taken
permanent posts.

Active recruitment
17

Active advertising through North East Jobs has been supported by both
a recruitment pack clearly outlining Durham’s offer and FaceBook posts.

18

In October 2018 an agent was commissioned to identify 10 experienced
social workers to join the service on permanent contracts. To date this
has not led to any interviews or appointments.

Page 73

19

Work has been undertaken to increase awareness of Durham as an
employer in the region and nationally including:
(a)

Representing North East social work employers at Compass jobs
fairs in Birmingham, Manchester and London.

(b)

Publishing positive articles in the local press, and an advert in
Compass: the Annual Guide to Social Work and Social Care (a
publication delivered to 30,000 qualified social workers).

Creating the conditions for effective practice
20

21

Page 74

Strategies intended to create the conditions for effective social work
practice should also support recruitment and retention by making
Durham a more positive place for social workers to work. Key projects
are:
(a)

Replacement of the SSID system by LiquidLogic (February
2019), alongside lean reviews to streamline activities.

(b)

In April 2018 the Service started to embed Signs of Safety as the
model for practice.

(c)

In July 2018 a new system of collaborative audits was
introduced, making practitioners, children, young people and
families central to the audit process.

(d)

A new system to make policies and procedures clearer and
easier to find for practitioners went live on 10 December 2018.

Team Managers and Social Work Consultants play a critical role in
creating the conditions for effective social work practice. To support
managers with this task training is provided through:
(a)

The Strengthening managers programme which was launched in
2016 with the aim of supporting managers to bring the best out
of and empower their staff, focus on the child and family, and
focus on quality and practice improvement. 55 of the managers
in Children’s Social Care staff have completed the programme.
A further cohort is scheduled to commence in Spring 2019.

(b)

7 managers have completed the Firstline leaders programme
since 2017, and a further 3 are undertaking the programme.

(c)

In Autumn 2018 3 nominations were made for the Department
for Education’s practice supervisor programme. The nominees
are expected to undertake the programme in 2019.

Increasing capacity
22

From April 2017 the Council made available additional resources, which
included an additional Families First team in the East of the County, 4
Social Workers in Child Protection teams and 6 Social Workers in the
Looked After Teams.

23

In August 2018 an agency team was commissioned to work with 180
children until February 2019. This contract has now been extended to
July 2019 and the number of social workers in the team has been
increased to increase the number of children the team can support to
252.

24

In November 2018 Corporate Management Team committed significant
additional funding to create additional Social Work posts, as well as
support posts to meet the demands on the Service.

25

Recruitment to these posts is being actively managed by the Senior
Management Team, Human Resources and Finance.

Engagement
26

The senior management team are committed to actively listening to
Social Workers across the Service, and taking appropriate action.
Activities such as Practice weeks, Practitioner briefings and
Consultation groups have all been held which provides an opportunity
for the senior management team to be made aware of practitioner views
and also actions needed to be taken to support staff retention.

Career Development
27

As a large local authority, Durham is able to offer Social Workers career
development opportunities not as easily available elsewhere. These are
designed to support the retention of experienced workers, and
encourage the next generation of managers.

28

The professional development offers for both social workers and
managers were substantially revised and circulated in June 2018.

29

In March 2017 a revised progression process was launched, which
recognises and celebrates a Social Worker’s competency to work
consistently at a higher level of responsibility with more complex cases.

30

In June 2018 the title “Senior Social Worker” was introduced to reflect
the skills, knowledge and ability of post-progression Social Workers.

31

We encourage all of our Social Workers who have 2 years of postqualification experience to consider becoming practice educators,
providing social work students with valuable workplace experience. An

Page 75

allowance of £10 per placement day is paid to on-site practice
educators.
32

An aspiring managers programme was launched in 2016 to support
social workers at any level to move into the next level of management.
Of the 6 aspiring managers who joined the programme in 2016, 5 were
successful in moving to the next level of management. Of the 13
aspiring managers who joined the programme in 2017, 6 have so far
been successful in moving to the next level of management.

Conclusion
33

34

It is too soon to evaluate the impact of recent investment to increase
capacity, however there have been positive effects from strategies in
place for longer:
a)

The vast majority of Social Workers eligible for additional
allowances have remained in post since the introduction of the
allowances.

b)

The aspiring managers programme has been successful in
encouraging internal progression. Team Manager and Social
Work Consultant posts are much easier to fill than they were in
2016. In addition the age profile has changed so that 66% of
Team Managers and 89% of Social Work Consultants are now
aged under 55.

Despite these strategies there are continued challenges:
a)

Turnover of less experienced Social Workers (not eligible for
additional allowances) in Families First teams remains high.

b)

Recruitment of experienced Social Workers into Families First
remains low. Since June 2018 only 2 external candidates have
taken up post in Families First teams.

Background papers


None

Other useful documents

Contact:

Page 76

None
Andrea Houlahan
Hazel Ostle

Tel: 03000 263991
Tel: 03000 262306

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
None

Finance
The Council has invested significantly to increase social work capacity since
2016.

Consultation
None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None

Human Rights
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
The strategies put in place to improve recruitment and retention of social
workers, in particular in Families First teams have had some success.
Turnover of social workers eligible for the retention allowance is extremely
low, and internal progression has improved substantially. However turnover of
less experienced social workers not yet eligible for the retention allowance is
much greater, and recruitment of experienced social workers from elsewhere
has very limited success.

Accommodation
None

Risk
Inability to recruit and retain social workers remains a risk, and is included on
the corporate risk register.

Procurement
Procurement support has been sought in line with contract procedure rules.

Page 77

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 15

Document is Restricted

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

